A INTRODUCTION 

Following a jury trial in King county superior court, appellant 

Jorge Zayas-Lopez was convicted of three counts of first degree 

rape of a child, one count of first degree child molestation and one 

count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 

159-63. The state alleged the charges were committed against 

A.B., the 11 year-old daughter of Zayas-Lopez's fiancee Armida 

Castro, while Zayas-Lopez was living with Castro and her 

daughters between April 2012 and September 2013. CP 1-7, 12-

14. 

Despite the number of people living in the couple's small 

apartment at various relevant times, the state offered no witness

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred in admitting A.B.'s non-verbal 

accusations in the absence of a legitimate hearsay exception. 

2. Trial irregularity deprived Zayas-Lopez of his right to a 

fair trial. 

3. The court erred in calculating Zayas-Lopez's offender 

score. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Did the court err in admitting gestures A.B. made to 

the investigating officer and the forensic interview specialist while 

she was describing the sexual abuse that allegedly occurred, where 
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such gestures depicted sex acts, such as masturbation and oral 

sex? 

2. Did the court err in denying Zayas-Lopez's motion for 

a mistrial - based on improper opinion testimony - following the 

advanced nurse practitioner's testimony that after interviewing A.B., 

the practitioner told A.B. "a little bit about how I see kids every day 

and that this has happened to other kids and that it was very brave 

that she told about it?" 

3. An ambiguous verdict must be interpreted in favor of 

the accused. State v. DeRyke, 110 Wn. App. 815, 41 P.3d 1225 

(2002). Where the jury could have convicted Zayas-Lopez of two 

counts of rape based on two alleged acts of penetration occurring 

during a continuing course of conduct, did the court err in counting 

the offenses separately at sentencing? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1 

1 . Defense Motion to Exclude Hearsay 

As the parties' pre-trial pleadings indicated, Castro called 

police on Sunday, October 20, 2013, to report allegations A.B. 

made after Zayas-Lopez took Castro's car. CP 17; Supp. CP _ 

(sub. no. 74, State's Trial Memo, 5/7/15). Kent police officer Melvin 
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Partido responded and took A.B.'s statement. ~ On October 24, 

2013, A.B. was interviewed by Forensic interview specialist Carolyn 

Webster. ~ The interview was audio and video recorded. CP 19. 

The defense moved to exclude A.B.'s statements to Partido and 

Webster as inadmissible hearsay. CP 31-32, 129. 

The state agreed to exclude A.B.'s oral statements but' 

argued certain gestures she made during the interviews should be 

admitted. RP 96-97. Apparently, A.B. made a "jacking off' gesture 

when giving her statement to Partido. RP 97-98. During her 

forensic interview with Webster, A. B. made gestures demonstrating 

oral sex. RP 198. 

The defense argued A.B.'s gestures were tantamount to 

assertions of what purportedly happened and therefore hearsay. 

CP 137 -38; RP 198-200. The state responded it should be allowed 

to offer A.B.'s gestures as evidence of precocious sexual 

knowledge. CP 143-44; RP 203. 

1 "RP" refers to the jury trial held in May and June 2015. "1 RP" refers to a 
hearing held on June 3, 2015, and sentencing on October 2, 2015, respectively. 
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As an alternative to exclusion, the defense took the position 

that if admitted, the gestures should be described, not shown, and 

the court therefore should exclude the video of A.B.'s gesture 

during the forensic interview. CP 143-44. The court ruled that if 

the state limited the evidence solely to showing precocious 

knowledge, the gestures, including the video, could be admitted. 

RP 208. 

Before Webster's testimony, the court considered again 

· whether the gestures were in fact hearsay: "if the child was saying, 

this is what I did, this is what I saw, then that is - that is a 

statement, hearsay statement. This is what I did. Right?" RP 

1131. The state responded it was offering the gesture "to show that 

she's familiar with this adult male masturbatory gesture.". RP 1131. 

The court acquiesced: "So, if you can present it just that way, yes.". 

RP 1131. 

In asking whether the defense wanted a limiting instruction, 

the court recognized, "It's a tough one.". RP 1132. The defense 

declined. RP 1132. 

2. Trial Testimony 

When Castro and Zayas-Lopez met in the summer of 2011, 

Castro was living at the Silver Springs Apartments in Kent with her 
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three daughters A.B., Amaia and Alessandra ("Ali"). RP 1194, 

1202. A.B. is the oldest, Amaia is two years younger than A.B., 

and Ali is about four years younger than Amaia. RP 1183, 1190-

91. A.B. and Amaia have the same father, but he was not involved 

in their lives until after A.B. made the allegations at issue here. RP 

1203, 1254. 

In September 2011, Castro became pregnant and Zayas

Lopez moved in with Castro.2 RP 1202. Throughout her 

relationship with Zayas-Lopez, Castro never saw anything between 

Zayas-Lopez and her daughters that caused her concern. RP 

1305. 

In anticipation of the baby's arrival, in April 2012, Castro and 

Zayas-Lopez moved into a bigger apartment in the same complex

C-206 - a three-bedroom, two-bathroom apartment. RP 1196-

1200. Castro and Zayas-Lopez's master bedroom had its own 

bathroom and the girls' bathroom was across the hall from the room 

where all three girls slept in the same King-sized bed. 1078-80, 

1113,1206-07,1308,1379,1539. The third bedroomwasforthe 

baby, but A.B. sometimes slept in it, as did house guests such as 

2 Their daughter Syanne was born in July 2012. RP 1192. 
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Zayas-Lopez's mother Judith Gonzales and Castro's friend Shukri 

Del. RP 1206, 1247. 

Castro testified Gonzales stayed intermittently at C-206 and 

also at her daughter's house, between February and April 2013. 

RP 1282-83. Castro testified Gonzales and Del's stays at C-206 

overlapped. RP 1284. 

Gonzales testified she stayed with Castro and Zayas-Lopez 

for a month and left in April 2013. RP 1591-92. Gonzales never 

witnessed anything inappropriate between Zayas-Lopez and 

Castro's daughters. RP 1593. 

Shukri Del stayed with Castro and Zayas-Lopez in April-May 

2013. RP 1065-66. She testified Zayas-Lopez's interaction with 

the girls was normal and that she observed nothing inappropriate. 

RP 107 4. Del never saw Zayas-lopez sleep in any bedroom other 

than his own and never saw him go into any other bedroom. RP 

1109. Del testified the bedrooms in the apartment were fairly close 

together and the walls were thin. RP 1081. She described the 

apartment as small and testified you could hear everything. RP 

1081, 1085. As she explained, there was no privacy. RP 1116. 

Del claimed that one morning from her room she overheard 

A.B. and Zayas-Lopez in the living room. RP 1085. According to 
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Del, Zayas-Lopez told A.B. to tell her mother she was sick and stay 

home from school. RP 1085. Afterward, Del reportedly heard the 

phone ring and A.B. telling the caller, presumably Castro, she was 

sick. RP 1087-88. Castro sometimes allowed the girls to stay 

home and ride the bus to school instead of dropping them off at 

daycare on her way to work. 3 RP 1208-09, 1216. Castro would call 

to make sure the girls were ready to catch the bus. RP 1087, 1149, 

1244-45. 

Del told Castro about what she reportedly overheard, but 

Castro never asked Zayas-Lopez about it. RP 1092, 1260-62. 

Castro believed Del did not like Zayas-Lopez and was trying to 

cause trouble. RP 1262. Del and Zayas-Lopez butted heads. RP 

1262. A.B.'s school records for April 2013 did not indicate any 

absences.4 RP 1602-03. 

Castro testified that beginning in early 2013, Zayas-Lopez's 

inconsistent employment and drug use bega1,1 to cause a rift in the 

relationship. 5 RP 1264-66. Despite complaining about Zayas-

3 When Castro dropped the girls off at daycare, the daycare provider would take 
them to school. RP 1209. 

4 The school's records went up until April 22, 2013. RP 1599. The records 
custodian believed A.B. transferred to a different school at that time. RP 1599. 
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Lopez's reported drug use, Castro admitted she smoked cocaine 

with Zayas-Lopez in the summer of 2013. RP 1267-68. 

Castro testified the last several months of the relationship 

were marked by yelling and physical fights. RP 1268-69. 

According to Castro, Zayas-Lopez constantly accused her of being 

unfaithful.6 RP 1268. Castro also testified that she would try to 

catch Zayas-Lopez lying about his drug use by putting her hands in 

his pockets to see if he had drugs or paraphernalia. RP 1269, 

1346-47. On such occasions, Zayas-Lopez would try to push 

Castro away and sometimes caused her to fall. RP 1269, 1347. 

Castro testified the girls saw her and were worried after Zayas-

Lopez pushed her down in the hallway. RP 1347. 

Amaia confirmed she witnessed Castro and Zayas-Lopez hit 

and hurt each other. RP 1388. A.B. likewise confirmed seeing 

Zayas-Lopez hit Castro. RP 1546. A.B. testified she thought 

Zayas-Lopez was on drugs. RP 1546. 

5 Zayas-Lopez lost his job at an auto parts store in January 2013, but worked 
several temporary jobs afterward and was working in landscaping towards the 
end of the relationship. RP 1311-1313, 1623. 

6 Zayas-Lopez's mother and sister testified Castro was the jealous one. RP 
1592, 1613. 
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Saturday morning on October 19, 2013, Castro fell asleep 

after breakfast. RP 1270. When she woke up, Zayas-Lopez and 

her car were gone. RP 1270. Castro acknowledged she had 

allowed Zayas-Lopez to borrow her car after he sold his. RP 1256. 

Castro called and texted Zayas-Lopez, but got no response. RP 

1271-1272. Castro called police to report Zayas-Lopez as missing, 

but was told not enough time had elapsed. RP 1272. 

The next morning, Castro called police again, either to report 

Zayas-Lopez as missing or her car as stolen. RP 1272. Because 

Zayas-Lopez had not brought the car back, Castro ended up having 

to call her pastor to take her to church. RP 1272. Castro's 

daughters overheard her say that "cokehead took my car and 

have no ride." RP 1272. 

While Castro was making dinner later that night, A.B. asked 

to speak with her in private. RP 1274-75. After hearing what A.B. 

had to say, Castro called police. RP 880. 

Officer Partido responded around 8:20 p.m. and spoke to 

Castro and A.B.. RP 880-84. Partido testified that before taking 

A.B.'s statement, he explained he just wanted to know briefly what 

happened, to "establish what I am investigating." RP 885. 
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The prosecutor asked Partido if A.B. made any gestures 

while giving her statement. RP 885. Partido responded, "when she 

described different things." RP 885. When asked to describe the 

gesture, Partido testified: 

Okay. She described - she showed me a 
motion which, as if you were - say if you have a 
hammer, turn it upside-down, and you grab the top of 
the hammer with your hand and you rub the hammer 
up and down. That's what she described to me. 

RP 886. Partido explained A.B.'s fingers were in a circle when she 

made the "up and down" gesture. RP 886. 

Next, the prosecutor asked whether, "during the course of 

your conversation with A.B. did she point to any places on her 

body?" RP 886. Partido responded she pointed to "[h]er vaginal 

area and her buttocks area." RP 886. Although the prosecutor 

also elicited that A.B. "was ashamed" as she spoke to Partido, the 

court sustained defense counsel's objection. RP 886-87. 

Castro testified that sometime after Partido left, Zayas-Lopez 

returned and accused her of being romantically involved with 

Partido. RP 1277. Castro reportedly told Zayas-Lopez to return 

her keys and leave. RP 1278. According to Castro, Zayas-Lopez 

pushed her and she fell on the bed. RP 1279. Castro claimed 
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Zayas-Lopez hit her in the face and choked her before leaving. RP 

1280. 

Partido responded to Castro's second 911 call around 

midnight. RP 891-92. He testified the left side of Castro's face was 

red and had not been so before, when he responded earlier. RP 

893. 

Zayas-Lopez testified that when he brought the car and keys 

back and was gathering his things to leave, Castro grabbed his arm 

and he accidentally hit her when he tried to pull away. RP 1626. 

Castro took A.B. to Harborview the next day. RP 684-85. 

Social worker Kira Schreiber took a short statement from each after 

asking why they were at the emergency room. RP 687-88. 

According to Schreiber, A.B. essentially said her mother was dating 

a man that asked her to give him oral sex and keep it a secret from 

her mother. RP 687. Schreiber summarized what A.B. said to 

pediatric resident Jason Rubin. RP 723. 

Rubin testified he asked A.B. when the last accused episode 

of sexual assault occurred and she said sometime in September. 

RP 726. Rubin physically examined A.B., including her genital and 

rectal area. RP 727-33, 729. He noted nothing unusual and no 

evidence of injury or trauma to A.B.'s hymen or rectum. RP 727-
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33, 739. A.B. reported no history of bleeding. RP 755. Rubin 

testified that potentially, one would expect a tear or bleeding as a 

result of penetration. RP 739. 

Joanne Mettler is an advanced registered nurse practitioner 

who performs head-to-toe physical exams - with the aid of a 

colposcope (a magnifying device) - of children who claim sexual 

abuse. RP 761, 766. She examined A.B. on October 30, 2013. 

RP 775. When Mettler asked why she was there, A.B. said, "about 

what happened to me." RP 780. When asked what happened, 

A.B. described vaginal and anal intercourse and said it happened 

on more than one day. RP 781. When asked who, she identified 

"George." RP 782. 

Mettler continued and testified to the following: 

I then told her that I did not have any other 
questions. Did she have any questions? 

And she said, no. And then she said that she 
really did not want to talk about it too much, because 
she starts crying and it is painful. 

I said, that is fine, I did not want her to cry, that 
she did a really good job talking to me. I asked her if 
she had any other questions. 

And then she asked me if this has happened to 
other kids. I told her and talked with her a little bit 
about how I see kids every day and this has 
happened to other kids -

RP 782. 
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At this point, defense counsel objected and the jury was 

excused for a sidebar. RP 782. Defense counsel objected that 

these hearsay statements were not pertinent to medical diagnosis 

or treatment and that Mettler was giving a narrative. RP 783-84. 

The court agreed the statements were not relevant to a medical 

diagnosis or treatment. RP 785. The state appeared to agree, but 

focused on what it hoped to elicit next, that A.B. also told Mettler 

about Zayas-Lopez telling her to keep it a secret and that she and 

her mother no longer keep any "sexual secrets." RP 785-86. The 

court ruled that testimony would be allowed. RP 786. 

When Mettler resumed testifying in front of the jury, the 

prosecutor elicited the same statements the court ruled were not 

relevant to medical diagnosis or treatment, in addition to the 

"secret" statement: 

Q. Nurse Mettler, please continue where we left off. 

A. Sure. 

Q. With "and I told her." 

A. I told her and talked with her a little bit about how I 
see kids every day and that this has happened to 
other kids and that it was very brave that she told 
about it. 

And she told me about how he told her to keep 
it a secret but now her and her mother have talked 
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about how they cannot keep secrets and cannot keep 
any sexual secrets. 

And then we proceeded to the physical exam. 

RP 788. 

The defense later moved for a mistrial based on this 

testimony, on grounds Mettler's testimony was an improper 

comment on A.B.'s credibility and a comment on the ultimate issue. 

RP 828; CP 148-154 (citing State v. Carlson, 80 Wn. App. 116, 906 

P.2d 999 (1995) (doctor's opinion testimony child was sexually 

abused was improper, because they were based on child's 

statements, rather than physical evidence); State v. Alexander, 64 

Wn. App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (2000) (counselor's testimony 

alleged victim's description of abuse "very clear" was improper)). 

The court denied the motion, reasoning the court did not 

take Mettler's testimony as "vouching:" 

So, I don't think that the statement when you 
tell - when she told the child you're brave, this 
happened to other people is vouching for the child. 
There was no indication from this witness that she 
was making any valuation about whether this child 
was credible or not. 

And I didn't take it that way. It's just something 
you say so that a child will talk, not that she was 
vouching. So, I don't think that was vouching at all. 

So, I'm going to deny the motion for mistrial. 

RP 838. 
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Like Rubin, Mettler testified the exam results were normal. 

RP 789-90. No tearing or scars. RP 790-91, 801. In a prior 

interview, Mettler said that "most of the time," in her experience, the 

hymen would be torn or somehow affected by sexual intercourse. 

RP 803-04. 

Forensic child interview specialist Carolyn Webster 

interviewed A.B. on October 24,2013. RP 1166. Webster testified 

she follows the Washington State guidelines on child interviewing. 

RP 1161. She starts with a "narrative practice" where "we talk 

about a past event in the child's life." RP 1161. Afterward, 

Webster goes over "ground rules," such as the importance of telling 

the truth. RP 1161. After obtaining the child's promise to tell the 

truth, Webster goes "into the substantive section, where we're 

talking about any potential abuse allegations." RP 1161-62. In that 

vein, Webster testified: "I almost always start it by just saying, tell 

me why you came to see me today." RP 1164. 

The prosecutor asked Webster whether there was a time 

during her interview that A.B. used a gesture. Webster said yes 

and confirmed exhibit 23 represented an accurate recording of that 

gesture, which was played for the jury. RP 1168-70. 
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A.B. testified the first time Zayas-Lopez touched her was in 

her mother's bathroom after they moved into C-206. RP 1465, 

1528-29. A. B. claimed Zayas-lopez pulled her pants and 

underwear down and rubbed her private part. RP 1466. A.B. 

described a separate occasion in her mother's bedroom where 

Zayas-Lopez engaged in anal sex with her and then oral sex. RP 

1476~77. She described a separate occasion in her mother's 

bedroom where Zayas-Lopez reportedly engaged in vaginal sex 

with her. RP 1479-81, 1485-86. A.B. claimed Zayas-Lopez 

sometimes made her perform oral sex on him in the girls' bathroom. 

RP 1498-99. According to A.B., one time she looked up and saw 

Zayas-Lopez smoking a pipe. RP 1508-09. Reportedly, there was 

also a time Zayas-Lopez showed A.B. a video on his phone of 

people engaged in oral sex and asked her to do it like that. RP 

1503. A.B. remembered telling officer Partido the last time anything 

happened was before her birthday in September 2013. RP 1586. 

A. B. claimed Zayas-lopez sometimes called for her by 

whispering her name at night when she was sleeping. RP 1481. 

According to A.B., one time Zayas-Lopez entered her room when 

she was sleeping on the same bed with her sisters, rousted her 

awake and put her in a little chair in the same room. RP 1494-96. 
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A.B. testified none of her sisters woke up and that Zayas-Lopez left 

after she pretended to be asleep.7 RP 1496-97, 1556. She also 

claimed Amaia once saw her and Zayas-Lopez in the shower 

together. RP 1516. 

A.B. testified that at the time she reported her allegations to 

her mother, Castro and Zayas-Lopez were fighting every day. RP 

1468. A.B. was afraid her "mom would get hurt." RP 1468. A.B. 

remembered one time Zayas-Lopez almost slammed the door on 

Castro's hand. RP 1544. All the yelling and fighting upset A.B .. 

RP 1544-45. 

A.B. remembered it was the day Zayas-Lopez took her 

mother's car that she made the accusations against him. RP 1545. 

Admittedly, A.B. wanted her mother and Zayas-Lopez to break up. 

RP 1583. 

Amaia testified that one time when she and A.B. were 

playing in the living room, Zayas-Lopez called A.B. into the girls' 

bathroom. RP 1381. According to Amaia, A.B. went in the 

bathroom and the door was closed. RP 1382. Amaia went to the 

door to ask if A.B. was done talking. RP 1383. Zayas-Lopez 

reportedly said she would be out in a minute. RP 1383. Amaia 

7 Zayas-Lopez denied ever going into someone else's bedroom at night or 
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testified A.B. came out and resumed playing. RP 1384. When 

Amaia reportedly asked what she had been doing, A.B. said 

nothing.8 RP 1384. 

Amaia thought his happened in the afternoon during the 

school year. RP 1384. Amaia testified she never saw A.B. in the 

shower with Zayas-Lopez. RP 1392. 

Despite the allegations, Castro accepted a number of Zayas-

Lopez's calls afterward. RP 1292. She also responded to one of 

his letters, which she later turned over to the detective. RP 1294, 

1304. In one of the letters, Zayas-Lopez wrote: "I know I messed 

up, but I love you so much." RP 1295. He also wrote, "I'm sorry for 

everything I've done bad and the drugs" and "I hope you don't hate 

me." RP 1301. In one letter he wrote, "I imagine that the whole

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