FILED
May 31, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 74056-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JORGE ZAYAS-LOPEZ,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LAURA GENE MIDDAUGH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S HAND MOTIONS WAS NOT HEARSAY.

First, Zayas-Lopez claims he deserves a new trial because evidence of his young victim's hand motions was inadmissible

² On redirect, Zayas-Lopez's attorney asked him, "Did you ever have [A.R.B.] perform blow jobs on you like in these videos?" but the Court sustained an objection that the question was outside the scope of cross examination. 1RP 1676.

hearsay. To the contrary, there was no error because the evidence was not hearsay. The testimony and silent video of the victim's masturbatory gestures, presented without specific context or accompanying questions, were not offered for the truth of the gestures themselves but as relevant circumstantial evidence of the victim's precocious sexual knowledge. Any error was harmless.

Additional Relevant Facts.

The State offered the testimony of Kent Police Officer Melvin Partido, who would testify that while speaking to A.R.B. at her home on October 20, 2013, she made a hand gesture indicating male masturbation. 1RP 886. The officer would describe it to the jury as "a motion which, as if you were — say if you have a hammer, turn it upside-down, and you grab the top of the hammer with your hand and you rub the hammer up and down." Id. Partido also would testify that A.R.B. also pointed to her vaginal area and buttocks. Id. The State also offered the testimony of Carolyn Webster, a child interview specialist, that on October 24, 2013, during an interview, A.R.B. made a similar hand gesture, which was

video-recorded and lasted approximately 14 seconds. 1RP 1152, 1166, 1170; Ex. 23.³

Pretrial, Zayas-Lopez objected to this evidence as inadmissible hearsay. 1RP 200-01, 1129-33; CP 137-38. The State responded that the gestures were offered "to show that she [A.R.B.] is familiar with these sorts of things." 1RP 202. "[H]er moving her hand up and down in this masturbatory gesture, we don't know if that means she did it to him ... or he did it to himself and — or that it happened at all — but that she's familiar with something she shouldn't be familiar with, which is a male masturbatory gesture," the prosecutor said. 1RP 202-03.

The trial court ruled that the gestures were not hearsay because they were offered "for the purpose of showing sexual knowledge beyond the normal understanding of a child of her age." 1RP 207. The court offered to give the jury a limiting instruction, but Zayas-Lopez declined. 1RP 207-08, 1132.

Officer Partido did not testify to anything that he and A.R.B. discussed, except that he had asked her to tell him "briefly what happened." 1RP 885-916. Partido did not mention any questions

³ In pretrial motions, the State described the gestures in the Webster interview as including head motions suggestive of oral sex. 1RP 198. But the silent video that was shown to the jury does not appear to include any such motions, only hand gestures similar to those described by Officer Partido. Ex. 23.

or statements that preceded or accompanied the gesture. <u>Id.</u>
Similarly, Webster testified only about the general procedure of child interviews but did not discuss any questions that she asked A.R.B. or anything that A.R.B. said. 1RP 1152-77. Webster affirmed that A.R.B. had "used a gesture," but did not describe it. 1RP 1168. She said only that the video accurately depicted it. 1RP 1168. 1170.

b. The Gestures As Presented Were Not Hearsay.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception applies. ER 802. Whether a statement was hearsay is reviewed de novo. State v. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, ___ P.3d ___, 33027-3-III, 2016 WL 1755818 at *2 (May 3, 2016).

A "statement" is an oral or written assertion, or a person's nonverbal conduct if that person intends that conduct to be an assertion. ER 801(a). Thus, a mere utterance, or nonverbal conduct that is not assertive, is not hearsay and its admissibility is governed by principles of relevance, not by hearsay principles.

In the Matter of the Dependency of Penelope B., 104 Wn.2d 643, 652-53, 709 P.2d 1185 (1985) (gestures and utterances during

child-abuse interview not hearsay when offered to show precocious knowledge of sexual matters). Accordingly, nonverbal conduct that is not intentionally being used as a substitute for words to express a fact or opinion is not hearsay. Id. at 652.

As our supreme court explained, "An involuntary act such as trembling would be admissible as nonassertive nonverbal conduct whereas the act of nodding one's head affirmatively or pointing to identify a suspect in a lineup would be hearsay and not admissible because it is assertive nonverbal conduct." Id. The burden is on the party claiming that an assertion is intended; doubtful cases are to be resolved against that party and in favor of admissibility. Id. at 654.

If nonverbal conduct is assertive, whether it is hearsay "depends upon the purpose for which the statement is offered." State v. Crowder, 103 Wn. App. 20, 26, 11 P.3d 828 (2000). In determining whether the statement was offered to prove its truth instead of for the State's other asserted purpose, the issue is whether the other purpose was relevant. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, 2016 WL 1755818 at *3.

"An assertion that is circumstantial evidence proves a fact indirectly, by implication; credibility of the declarant is not important

because the relevance of the assertion does not depend on its truth." In re Penelope B., 104 Wn.2d at 653. Further:

If tulips bloom, they are not making assertions that it is spring; but the testimony of a witness that tulips were observed to be blooming may be offered as circumstantial evidence of spring. If a dog limps, it is not thereby making an assertion and the testimony of a witness that the dog was observed to be limping may be offered as circumstantial evidence that the dog was injured. Similarly, the testimony of a witness that he or she observed a person limping may be offered as circumstantial evidence that the person was injured.

ld.

Thus, a declarant saying "X is no good" circumstantially indicates the declarant's state of mind toward X and, if relevant, it is admissible. <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>United States v. Brown</u>, 490 F.2d 758, 762-63 (D.C. Cir. 1973)). But if the declarant said "I hate X," it would be offered for the truth of the matter alleged — that declarant hates X — and thus would be inadmissible absent an exception under the hearsay rules. <u>Id.</u> Just because something is an assertion does not automatically make it hearsay.⁴

⁴ Other states recognize that under the so-called <u>Bridges</u> doctrine, "out-of-court assertions are nonhearsay when offered to prove a victim's knowledge of facts the victim could not know unless the victim had certain experience." John E.B. Myers, Myers on Evidence of Interpersonal Violence: Child Maltreatment, Intimate Partner Violence, Rape, Stalking, and Elder Abuse § 7.09 (5th ed. 2011) (citing <u>Bridges v. State</u>, 247 Wis. 350, 19 N.W. 529 (1945) (molested child's description of van not hearsay when offered to show knowledge of van as proof he was inside)).

Accordingly, in In re Penelope B., specific acts by the girl during her exam that were not responses to specific questions were admissible as circumstantial evidence of "precocious sexual knowledge." 104 Wn.2d at 654-55. These included utterances showing knowledge of private names for genitalia and pushing an anatomically correct male doll into the therapist's face and saying "put this in your mouth" or "suck me" as she held its penis. Id. But other acts and statements presented as responses to specific questions were inadmissible hearsay because they were assertions offered for their truth. Id. at 657-58. For example, the therapist testified that the child used clay, drew pictures and spelled out words to answer direct questions. Id. at 658.

Turning to Zayas-Lopez's case, evidence of A.R.B.'s hand gesture was not hearsay because it was not offered for the truth of the gesture itself. The gesture was highly relevant evidence by implication of the preteen's precocious sexual knowledge. As presented to the jury — devoid of any preceding questions or accompanying words — the hand motions themselves carried no message to the jury except the implication that A.R.B. was knowledgeable about adult sexual experiences.

⁵ See State v. C.J., 148 Wn.2d 672, 687, 63 P.3d 765 (2003) (indirect evidence of sexual abuse may include a child victim's precocious sexual knowledge).

Zayas-Lopez correctly looks to In re Penelope B. for guidance, but he compares his case to the wrong examples, where Penelope B.'s actions were actual statements offered for the truth of the statements themselves, i.e., using drawings to answer a therapist's specific questions. As presented in Zayas-Lopez's case, devoid of specific context, A.R.B.'s hand motions were no different than the non-hearsay conduct in Penelope B. because they were not offered for the truth of the hand motions.

Zayas-Lopez's argument that the motions were "non-verbal accusations" relies on reading far too much into the gestures as presented to the jury. His claim that the gestures could not be "divorced from the context in which they were made" requires one to imagine the rest of the specific context, i.e., what questions were asked and what words A.R.B. spoke. But that is not part of the hearsay rules. The hand motions alone do not directly say "He did this," or "I did this," or "I know about male masturbation." If the broader context here — the simple fact that A.R.B.'s hand motions were made while talking to police and the forensic interviewer — turned them into hearsay, then all the non-verbal conduct in In re Penelope B. also would have been inadmissible hearsay simply by virtue of the broader context of a child-abuse examination.

104 Wn.2d at 655. What matters is whether they are assertions, and if so, for what purpose they were offered.⁶

Also, because Zayas-Lopez refused the trial court's offer of a limiting instruction, he cannot complain now that the jury might have used the evidence for purposes other than that for which the State offered it. He contends that no limiting instruction could possibly have prevented this, but trial courts give such instructions routinely, and this Court presumes that jurors follow them. <u>State v. Yates</u>, 161 Wn.2d 714, 763, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

Zayas-Lopez's argument that the evidence should have been excluded as unfairly prejudicial under ER 403 is baseless in the face of all the other sexually graphic evidence in this case. In any event, he did not raise that argument at trial so he may not raise it now, where the trial court has had no chance to weigh the prejudice and probative value. See CP 137-38; State v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 82, 206 P.3d 321 (2009) (on appeal, a party may not raise objection not properly preserved at trial absent manifest constitutional error); RAP 2.5.

⁶ <u>See</u> 5B Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 801.9 (5th ed. 2015) ("[T]he drafters of the [evidence rules] fully intended [to take] implied assertions out of the definition of hearsay . . . [A]ccording to the Washington Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Penelope B.</u> the hearsay rule is out of the picture, period. Implied assertions are not hearsay, and in the years since <u>Penelope B.</u>, the Supreme Court has never expressly retreated from this position.").

The evidence of hand gestures made by Zayas-Lopez's young rape victim was not hearsay. It was admissible as relevant circumstantial evidence of the girl's precocious sexual knowledge to bolster the proof of her repeated sexual abuse. Zayas-Lopez's argument fails.

c. Any Error Was Harmless.

An erroneous evidentiary ruling does not result in reversal unless the defendant was prejudiced. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). For evidentiary errors not implicating a constitutional mandate, this Court will reverse only if, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. Id. The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole. Id. Under this "overwhelming untainted evidence" test, this Court looks only at the untainted evidence and determines whether it is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. State v. Watt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635-36, 160 P.3d 640 (2007).

Here, even if the gestures were erroneously admitted, they were harmless in the face of all the other overwhelming evidence of

Zayas-Lopez's repeated rape and molestation of his 11-year-old stepdaughter. The jury was presented not only with harrowing and heartbreakingly detailed testimony from A.R.B. herself (which also demonstrated her precocious sexual knowledge), but substantial corroborative testimony. All this was topped off with the evidence that Zayas-Lopez not only had the pornographic videos on his phone like the ones A.R.B. described, but he actively sought out pornographic videos about the identical criminal conduct that the little girl reported.

Zayas-Lopez's assertions that this case "boiled down to credibility" — that it was a she-said-he-said case — fly in the face of the record. The jury heard that A.R.B. made consistent allegations to three different medical professionals. The jury heard from the family's houseguest who verified a unique episode related to the rapes. The jury heard from A.R.B.'s little sister, whose recollection was consistent with A.R.B.'s account. The jury heard from A.R.B.'s mother, who corroborated much of A.R.B.'s account, including Zayas-Lopez's drug smoking in the bathrooms. And the jury learned of Zayas-Lopez's pornographic fantasies about "fucking my stepdaughter in the bathroom." 1RP 985-89; Ex. 13, 15. This was not a case that relied solely on A.R.B.'s hand motions

for corroboration. Even if their admission was erroneous, the value as corroboration was insignificant alongside the other overwhelming evidence. Any error was harmless.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING ZAYAS-LOPEZ'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL.

Zayas-Lopez next claims that the trial court should have declared a mistrial based on a nurse testifying that she told A.R.B. that she was brave and that she answered the girl's question by affirming that "this has happened to other kids." He contends that this was improper vouching for the victim's credibility and opining on the ultimate factual issues in this case. This claim fails because the trial court was well within its discretion to recognize the testimony for what it was — contextual, permissible, and entirely innocuous comments that had no effect on the trial.

a. Additional Relevant Facts.

Joanne Mettler, the Harborview nurse practitioner who examined A.R.B., began her testimony by discussing her typical procedure for such child interviews and exams, including how to speak to children in such situations, and how to put them at ease and generally get "warmed up with kids." 1RP 763-67. Mettler then specifically recounted, by reading her report verbatim to the jury as

a recorded recollection, how she spoke to A.R.B. "about what kind of contact happened to her body." 1RP 780-81. Mettler asked A.R.B. specific questions that assumed the truth of A.R.B.'s previous accounts, such as, "This may be a hard question to answer, and that is okay. But did you ever see any bleeding?" 1RP 782; Ex 3.

At the end of the interview, Mettler testified, she asked A.R.B. if she had any questions.

And she said, no. And then she said that she really did not want to talk about it too much, because she starts crying and it is painful. I said, that is fine, I did not want her to cry, that she did a really good job talking to me. I asked her if she had any other questions. And then she asked me if this has happened to other kids. I told her and talked with her a little bit about how I see kids every day and this has happened to other kids ...

1RP 782; Ex. 3 (emphasis added).

Zayas-Lopez then objected on the grounds that A.R.B.'s question to Mettler about it happening to other kids, along with Mettler's response and some additional upcoming questions and answers, which had not yet been read to the jury, were all inadmissible hearsay. 1RP 784. The State agreed in part, but proposed presenting Mettler's report up to the phrase "sexual"

secrets," which included the portion about being brave and it happening to other kids. 1RP 785; Ex. 3.

When asked if he objected to that proposal, Zayas-Lopez's counsel objected only to a portion in which A.R.B. said her stepfather had told her to keep a secret, again claiming hearsay.

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